



ମ୍ଭି Catastrophe and Climate

Determining the Role of Anthropogenic Climate Change on Human Health Outcomes: A Case Study on Heat Related Illness Attribution



February 2021

Copyright © 2021 Society of Actuaries



Determining the Role of Climate Change on Human Health Outcomes: A Case Study on Heat Related Illness Attribution

AUTHORS

Dr. Jesse E Bell, PhD SPONSOR Claire M. Hubbard Professor of Health and Environment University of Nebraska Medical Center, Omaha – NE

Jagadeesh Puvvula, PharmD MPH Graduate Assistant University of Nebraska Medical Center, Omaha – NE

Dr. Azar Abadi, PhD Research Assistant Professor University of Nebraska Medical Center, Omaha – NE

Give us your feedback!

Take a short survey on this report.

Climate and Environmental Sustainability Research Committee (CESRC)

Caveat and Disclaimer

The opinions expressed and conclusions reached by the authors are their own and do not represent any official position or opinion of the Society of Actuaries or its members. The Society of Actuaries makes no representation or warranty to the accuracy of the information.

Copyright © 2021 by the Society of Actuaries. All rights reserved.

Click here

CONTENTS

Executiv	ve Sun	nmary	4
Section	1: Inti	roduction	5
1	1.1 (Climate change and extreme temperature	5
1	1.2	Attributing human health outcomes to Anthropogenic Climate Change	6
1	1.2.a	Detection and attribution of climate change	7
1	1.3	Impact of extreme temperature on human health	7
1	1.4	Factors influence human heat exposure	8
1	1.5	Morbidity and mortality in the U.S.	8
1	1.6 0	Cost associated with heat-related illness	8
Section	2: Me	thods	9
-	2.1 9	Study area	9
2	2.2	Climate data	9
2	2.3	Health data	10
2	2.4	Analysis	10
2	2.4.1	Epidemiologic evaluation	11
2	2.4.2	Heatwave definition evaluation	11
2	2.4.3	Impact of Anthropogenic Climate Change on HRI	11
Section	3: Res	sults	12
3	3.1	Descriptive	12
3	3.2	Epidemiologic relationship	12
3	3.2.1	Coastal Region	12
3	3.2.1	Piedmont Region	14
3	3.3	Heatwave sensitivity analysis	14
3	3.4	Impact of Anthropogenic climate change on HRI	17
Section	4: Cor	nclusion	19
Section	5: Stre	ength and Limitations	19
Section	6: Rec	commendations to reduce health outcomes from extreme heat	20
e	5.1 I	Public Health actions	20
6	5.2	Individual	20
6	5.3 Ad	ditional heat health resources	20
Section	7: Fut	ure direction	20
Section	8: Ack	nowledgements	21
Append	lix:		22
Referen	ices		25
Feedbad	ck		26
About T	he So	ciety of Actuaries	27

Executive Summary

This report is targeted to actuaries that are interested in identifying the adverse human health outcomes resulting from anthropogenic climate change. This is accomplished by providing a detailed framework to evaluate the impact of extreme heat on human health and identify the role that anthropogenic climate change has on extreme heat events. Although this document is designed around extreme heat, the concepts can be expanded to other climate-related events. As the primary focus of actuarial research is to promote human health and minimize the preventable economic burden, this document also provides recommendations to mitigate against excess heat related illness (HRI) due to extreme heat.

This report is focused on three objectives to understand the dynamics of HRI emergency room (ER) visits. The first objective is to understand the relationship between extreme temperature and HRI ER visits. The second objective is to construct a methodology to evaluate different heatwave definitions. The third objective is to attribute the excess HRI ER visits and health care expenditure towards ER visits that could be attributed to anthropogenic climate change. The study was based on the three physiographic divisions (Mountain, Coastal, and Piedmont) of North Carolina based on the variance of temperature across the state; however, due to limitations in data from the Mountain region, the results are only focused on two physiographic divisions (Coastal and Piedmont).

The HRI ER visits data was obtained from the North Carolina Disease Event Tracking and Epidemiologic Tool (NC DETECT), temperature data from Global Historical Climatology Network – Daily dataset and dew-point from PRISM dataset. Additionally, estimates of relative humidity and 6 most frequently used heat indices were derived from the literature. There were 28 heat wave definitions from the literature that were found to be sensitive to human health outcomes (mortality/morbidity). Heatwave definitions were used to divide the study period in heatwave and non-heatwave days to compare the sensitivity for excess HRI ER visits. To conduct the attribution analysis, historical natural simulations were obtained from the international CLIVAR climate of 20th Century Plus Detection and Attribution Project.

Twenty-eight heatwave definitions were evaluated to estimate the sensitivity towards HRI ER visits using a negative binomial model along with population as an offset term. An absolute threshold of daily maximum temperature greater than or equal to 95°F was most effective to identify extreme HRI ER visits compared to the other heatwave definitions included in the study. The results were slightly different from existing literature; we identified that using daily maximum temperature greater than the 95th percentile threshold for at least two consecutive days to be more effective for the region. But the available literature is based on comparatively larger geographic areas (group of states) and using all-cause mortality as the health outcomes. Our study results using HRI ER visits as the health outcome using a decentralized approach (focusing on climate divisions within a state) adds value to the existing literature. From the attribution analysis, we estimated that an excess of 25.19% of the cost related to HRI ER visits in Coastal and 27.32% Piedmont region could be attributed to anthropogenic climate change.



Click here

Climate change is already a threat to human health. Evidence has linked climate change to an increase in the frequency and intensity of some extreme weather events. Because of scientific advances in understanding the relationship between climate change and extremes, the conversation can now transition from identifying changes in historical trends of extreme events to determining the effect climate change has on a single extreme event. This new study area in climate science is called *extreme event attribution*. Understanding these relationships provides new opportunities to determine the current and future impacts of climate change on society and health delivery systems. The connection between extreme weather events and human health is already well established. With the advent of extreme event attribution, there is now an opportunity to identify the contribution that climate change has on human health and healthcare costs because of more intense and frequent extreme temperature and emergency room visits, while also estimating the health care cost associated with extreme temperature events. The goal of this report is to establish a framework for actuaries interested in evaluating the impacts of climate change on human health and determine additional costs.

1.1 CLIMATE CHANGE AND EXTREME TEMPERATURE

Changes in the Earth's climate since the early 19th Century is primarily the result of increases in anthropogenic greenhouse gases. As the concentration of these gases in the atmosphere continues to rise, the Earth's temperature is estimated to increase over time compared to the other natural drivers (volcanic, solar, and orbital). According to the recent Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change special report, human-induced warming has reached approximately 1°C above pre-industrial levels and is projected to increase another 1.5°C by the end of the current Century (by 2100) (IPCC, 2018). Based on several lines of evidence, the report also concludes that there is high confidence that many regions will be exposed to more extreme weather, including more frequent and intense extreme temperature events (IPCC, 2018). For example, central and western North America are among the top regions in the world expected to



Figure 1. The graph shows average annual global temperatures since 1880 compared to the long-term average (1901-2000). The zero line represents the long-term average temperature for the whole planet; blue and red bars show the difference above or below average for each year (Lindsey & Dahlman, 2002).

experience higher warming rates and increased incidences of extreme heat (IPCC, 2018). Many areas around the world have already experienced increases in the frequency and intensity of extreme weather events over the last 50 to 100 years. In the United States, the frequency and duration of heatwaves significantly increased over last 50 years (1961 – 2018) (USGCRP, 2020). The U.S. Global Climate Change Research Program identified that a majority of the U.S. cities in the east coast region had statistically significant increase in the number of heatwaves, defined as two or more consecutive days with daily minimum temperature more than 85th percentile of historic summer period specific to the city (USGCRP, 2020). For the study conducted in this report, the focus was on changes in extreme temperature.

1.2 ATTRIBUTING HUMAN HEALTH OUTCOMES TO ANTHROPOGENIC CLIMATE CHANGE

In 2017, humaninduced warming reached about 1.5 °C above the pre-industrial age. The past emissions are not the standalone factors to raise the global average temperature to 1.5 °C more than the preindustrial level. Humaninduced warming is a result of greenhouse gases (GHG) like carbon dioxide [Fig. 2], methane, chlorofluorocarbons, and nitrous oxide emissions. For the last few decades, there is an exponential rise in GHG that could worsen the warming trend (IPCC, 2018).

There are few studies based on probabilistic event attribution analysis to compare the difference



Figure 2. The graphs show monthly mean carbon dioxide measured at Mauna Loa Observatory, Hawaii. The carbon dioxide data on Mauna Loa constitute the longest record of direct measurements of CO2 in the atmosphere. They were started by C. David Keeling of the Scripps Institution of Oceanography in March of 1958 at a facility of the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (Keeling, 1976). NOAA started its own CO2 measurements in May of 1974, and they have run in parallel with those made by Scripps since then (Thoning, 1989) (NOAA, 2020).

between actual observed HRI mortality to the simulations based on natural scenario (Mitchell et al., 2016; Oudin et al., 2013). The impact of extreme temperature exposure on all-cause mortality was found to be doubled due to climate change (Oudin et al., 2013). As majority of literature on attribution analysis is focused on mortality, we focused our attention on morbidity using HRI ER visits as outcome.

1.2.A DETECTION AND ATTRIBUTION OF CLIMATE CHANGE

Determining the role that climate change has on extreme weather and climate events is an emerging scientific area of research, as indicated in the recent National Academy of Science report (National Academy of Sciences, 2016). Attribution analysis provides an opportunity to determine the role that climate change influences extreme weather events. This new and emerging field of extreme event attribution can assist other fields in identifying the impacts of climate change on their sectors (National Academy of Sciences, 2016).

Detection and attribution of climate change involves assessing the observed changes of the climate system through comparisons of climate models and/or observations using various statistical methods. Detection and attribution studies can determine if human-induced influence on climate variables (such as a temperature) varies from natural variability. Results from such studies can assist in decision making associated with climate policy and adaptation.



Understanding of the effect of climate change on event type

Figure 3. Diagram illustrates the evidence of anthropogenic climate change on various types of extreme weather and climate events. This work can assist in determining possible studies attribution and detection studies for actuarial work on impacts (National Academy of Sciences, 2016).

1.3 IMPACT OF EXTREME TEMPERATURE ON HUMAN HEALTH

A heatwave is an acute episode of consecutive days with temperatures exceeding a specific threshold (Mazdiyasni & AghaKouchak, 2015). In the United States, heatwaves are likely to result in more deaths than any other climate or weather-related disaster (NOAA, 2019). Heatwaves are expected to increase in intensity and frequency during the 21st century, and heatwave-related mortality is projected to increase in the United States (Anderson et al., 2018; Patz et al., 2014). About 30 percent of the current global population is exposed to extreme heat conditions, which is expected to increase to 50-75% by 2100 (Mora et al., 2017). The frequency of heatwaves was highest in the southeast region of the United States from 1979 to 2011 (Smith et al., 2013).

Human exposure to extreme heat often triggers a cascade of changes in the human body. The changes include depletion of water and electrolytes, abnormalities in cardiovascular, renal, hepatic, maternal, and coagulation functions (Atha, 2013). Additionally, it increases psychologic stress that could potentially trigger inflammatory responses (Danzl, 2018). Classic Heat-Related Illness (HRI) is an acute condition ranging from minor (edema, syncope, cramps, and exhaustion) to major (heat stroke) disorders (LoVecchio, 2016). Heat-related disorders could often be managed with public health mitigation plans or symptomatic care management and could lead to life-threatening conditions if untreated (LoVecchio, 2016; Nemer & Juarez, 2019). Furthermore, extreme heat, combined with different environmental drivers, could worsen the air quality that could increase the risk of adverse respiratory health outcomes (Nolte, 2018).

1.4 FACTORS INFLUENCE HUMAN HEAT EXPOSURE

There are multiple extrinsic and intrinsic factors associated with extreme heat exposure that could amplify heat-related morbidity and mortality. The extrinsic factors (e.g., urban housing) and intrinsic factors (e.g., individual's demographics, socioeconomic status, and pre-existing medical conditions) play a crucial role in exacerbating the vulnerability to HRI (Levy & Patz, 2015; McMichael et al., 2008). The majority of the world's population live in urban communities. Individuals living in urban communities are more vulnerable to HRI than those in rural communities, due to the urban heat island effect (UHI) and other societal factors. UHI is a common situation where the surface temperature in urban communities is higher than nearby rural regions (Zhao et al., 2014).

1.5 MORBIDITY AND MORTALITY IN THE U.S.

About 1.9 per 100,000 population per year were hospitalized due to heat-related illnesses. This was reported in 20 states of the United States during the summer seasons of 2001 - 2010 (Choudhary, 2014). About 658 deaths per year were reported due to excess heat exposure in the United States from 1999 – 2009. The mortality rate was higher in the elderly male population with peak death rate in July and August (David R. Fowler., 2013). In Florida, over eight years (2005-2012), 33.1 per 100,000 person-year emergency room visits, 5.9 per 100,000 person-year hospitalizations, and 0.2 per 100,000 person-year deaths related to non-occupational HRI were reported. This was higher than occupational related morbidity and mortality (Harduar Morano, Watkins & Kintziger, 2016).

The direct effect of extreme heat exposure triggering HRI is an underestimate of adverse health outcomes, as extreme heat exposure could exacerbate multiple pre-existing conditions. A classic example from California accounted for up to 6-fold increase in HRI ER visits and 10-fold increase in HRI related hospitalizations during the 2006 summer (Knowlton et al., 2009). There was a significant increase in HRI, acute renal failure, nephritis, cardiovascular, diabetic, and electrolytic imbalance in the central Coastal region. The region has a higher number of children and elderly population, known to be more susceptible to extreme heat (Knowlton et al., 2009). Additionally, the cardiac and respiratory health outcomes worsened with the comorbid condition of HRI (Schmeltz et al., 2016).

In North Carolina, there are a higher number of heat-related emergency department visits in the rural regions than the urban metropolitan cities during the warmest months (observed higher temperature during the calendar year relative to the annual average) from May through September. Increased mobile homes and socioeconomic status were associated with an increased risk of the HRI (Kovach et al., 2015). In North Carolina, heat-related emergency department visits were higher when the maximum daily temperature was between 87.8 to 100.4 °F (Sugg et al., 2016).

1.6 COST ASSOCIATED WITH HEAT-RELATED ILLNESS

During 2001-2010, the median length of HRI hospital stays during the summer months in the past decade has been two days (IQR 1 - 3 days), with a median total hospital expenditure per admission of \$ 8,965 (IQR \$5,017 - \$17,047) [IQR stands for Interquartile Range]. From the National Inpatient Sample, about 48.9% of the patient hospitalizations were with Medicare/Medicaid as the primary payer and 27.9% with private or health maintenance organizations. Additionally, the U.S. southern region accounted for 54.4% of the HRI hospitalizations (Schmeltz et al., 2016).

Section 2: Methods

This study evaluated the relationship between extreme temperature and emergency department visits due to heat-related illness. A statistical model was trained to predict HRI ER visits, using the observed HRI ER visit data observed during the summer months from 2011-2016 (excluding 2013). Using the developed model, HRI ER visits were estimated based on the natural simulations (estimated daily temperature assuming that there is no climate change). Additionally, the cost percentage difference from the observed to the natural scenario was estimated (assuming that there is no climate change).

2.1 STUDY AREA

This study is focused on the three principal physiographic divisions in North Carolina: Coastal plains, Piedmont, and Mountain regions (*Climate of North Carolina*). The Coastal region includes 41 counties, the Piedmont region has 34 counties, and the Mountain region has 25 counties [*Figure 4*].

The average temperature across the climate regions varies by at least 20 °F (Climate of North Carolina). The temperature variance across the state is minimal during the summer compared to the winter season. The warmest temperature in North Carolina is recorded in the Coastal region during summer. Coastal region's daily maximum temperature would record up to 92 °F (Goldsboro) and up to 68 °F at the top of Mt. Mitchell (Climate of North Carolina). The historic average



Figure 4. Physiographic divisions - North Carolina

annual precipitation was found to be higher in the Mountain region. The Coastal region contains geographic areas with both drier and wetter areas, whereas the Piedmont region is drier. The Coastal and Piedmont regions have larger geographic areas categorized as urban compared to the Mountain region.

2.2 CLIMATE DATA

Climate data were extracted from three different sources: 1- Global Historical Climatology Network – Daily (GHCN-D) dataset, 2-Parameter-elevation Regressions on Independent Slopes Model (PRISM) climate data and 3-International CLIVAR Climate of the 20th Century Plus Detection and Attribution project. The exposure (temperature, relative humidity, and maximum apparent temperature) and outcome (heatrelated illness emergency room visits) data was aggregated by three physiographic divisions in North Carolina.

The GHCN-D observations are based on ground observations (stations), and we extracted daily minimum, maximum, and mean temperatures for North Carolina from 2011 – 2016. The 28 heatwave definitions are based on the heatwave metric, the duration of the event and threshold intensity. They were adapted and modified from the literature. The heatwave definitions were based on heat metrics (maximum, minimum, and mean temperature), duration of events in two categories (event duration of 2 or more days / 3 or more days), and four percentile threshold values (90th, 95th, 98th and 99th). The percentile threshold values are calculated using daily temperature values from 1895 – 2016 [Table 2].

Daily dewpoint temperatures were extracted from the PRISM database from 2011 – 2016 and calculated the relative humidity following the methodology explained by Alduchov and Eskridge (Alduchov et al.,1996). Maximum apparent temperature (MAT) was calculated from the dew point data and maximum daily temperature (Baccini, 2008). Additionally, the Steadman's heat index (Steadman_HI), National Weather Service (NWS) heat index, Thermal Distress Index (TDI), and Excess Heat Factor were computed for the study period.

For the purpose of the attribution analysis, historical natural simulations for the years 2011-2015 were obtained from the International CLIVAR Climate of the 20th Century Plus Detection and Attribution project (C20C +D&A) (Stone et al., 2019). The historical natural simulations are the runs with the anthropogenic drivers maintained at pre-industrial values. They simulate weather under boundary conditions that would have been expected in the absence of anthropogenic interference (Stone et al., 2019). The C20C and D&A project is designed to address concerns regarding the role of human interference in historical and current extreme weather. For the purpose of this project, we extracted maximum temperature and relative humidity from the Community Atmosphere Model (CAM5) outputs with the global average grid size of 580 km². Using the CAM5 gridded data, the aggregate daily maximum temperature and relative humidity data was computed by physiographic region in North Carolina.

2.3 HEALTH DATA

The data on heat-related illness emergency room (ER) visits was obtained from NC-DETECT, maintained by the North Carolina Division of Public Health (NC DPH). There are 124 hospitals in North Carolina participating in the NC-DETECT program ("Participating Hospitals," 2020). The dataset contains ER visit count by day from 2011 – 2016, during the summer season (May 01 – Sep 30). About 7.4% of Coastal records, 5.4% of records from Piedmont, and 36.6% of the Mountain region records were missing. The days with less than 5 ER visits were censored, so 34% (n=239) records from Coastal, 31% (n=220) from the Piedmont region were imputed to 3 ER visits. For the Mountain region, 49% (n=382) of the available data was suppressed, making Mountain data unreliable for training a statistical algorithm to estimate the ER visits. Due to large number (~85%) of missing and suppressed data, we excluded Mountain region from the analysis. The HRI ER cost data was obtained from the North Carolina DHHS, the cost value is the annual average medical expenditure spent towards HRI ER visits in 2019 based on Medicaid claims.

2.4 ANALYSIS

The working dataset contains information on daily timescale by physiographic region. The variables include a continuous measure of meteorological variables, multiple heat indices, and heatwave days recorded as a binary variable. The heatwave day classification based on different heatwave definitions is based on temperature/heat-index metric, percentile threshold value, and duration (listed in the appendix).

Descriptive statistics were conducted to compare the trend of ER visits between the two physiographic regions in North Carolina (Coastal and Piedmont). The annual rate of ER visits per day/100,000 population was calculated by region using population estimates from the 2010 Decennial Census. The analysis was conducted in three different steps

1. Epidemiologically evaluating the relationship between meteorological variables/heat-indices and HRI ER visits;

2. Evaluating the sensitivity of heatwave definitions towards estimate the HRI ER visits by region; and

3. Estimating the excess HRI ER visits and excess cost associated with anthropogenic climate change.

2.4.1 EPIDEMIOLOGIC EVALUATION

A Pearson correlation coefficient matrix was computed between variables to understand the association's magnitude and relationship between meteorological variables/heat-indices and HRI ER visits. The predictor variables and ER visits were non-linearly associated. The non-linear relationship between the top five variables highly correlated with HRI ER visits was evaluated using the Generalized Additive Model (GAM). The GAM model is one of the statistical methods to understand the non-linear relationship between continuous predictor variables and the outcome variable. The advantage with using GAM model approach is the relationship is based on the sum of smoothing functions of continuous predictor terms within the model.

2.4.2 HEATWAVE DEFINITION EVALUATION

As summarized in Table 2, 28 heatwave definitions were adapted from the literature identified to be sensitive for HRI morbidity/mortality. A majority of the studies that evaluated the heatwave definitions are based on a larger geographic area (combination of a few states as a group). In this study, the sensitivity of heatwave definitions were re-evaluated within the two subregions of North Carolina (Coastal and Piedmont). The analytic dataset contains a daily count of ER visits and a binary variable that describes if the day is a heatwave day according to each of the 28 heatwave definitions adopted in this study. To evaluate the sensitivity of heatwave definitions towards HRI ER visits, the negative binomial regression approach was used with the population as an offset term to account for population density. Additionally, based on the output from the negative binomial model, we ranked the sensitivity of heatwave definitions by region.

2.4.3 IMPACT OF ANTHROPOGENIC CLIMATE CHANGE ON HRI

The analyses in this report have been performed using two scenarios; (1) In the first analysis we used historical observed data and developed the model (section 2.4.1), (2) The second analysis is a repeat of first analysis with the historical natural data to exclude the human-induced role from our analysis. Using the statistical algorithm trained using the historical observed data (2.5.1), the ER visits were estimated per day by physiographic region in North Carolina. The excess HRI ER visits and the excess cost associated with HRI ER visits due to anthropogenic climate change was calculated. Comparing the two scenarios enables us to address the role that human-induced changes in our climate influences morbidity.

The total number of HRI ER visits during a heatwave day / non-heatwave day data was utilized to estimate the difference. Similarly, the number of HRI ER visits and the healthcare cost using the natural scenario simulation data was estimated using the GAM model. The difference between modeled and observed HRI ER visits was combined with the estimated healthcare cost associated with HRI ER visits based on actual observations to show the attribution of heatwaves due to anthropogenic climate change.

Section 3: Results

3.1 DESCRIPTIVE

The physiographic divisions are a group of counties with similar climate profiles but with different weather. The Coastal and Piedmont regions are significantly different in meteorological factors, population density, and population demographics. The Piedmont region contains a more significant number of cities, with a larger population size, than the Coastal region. Evaluating the relationship by physiographic region, even with the Mountain region excluded due to data withheld for privacy reasons, allows heatwaves and HRI ER visits to be better aligned. The summer of 2011 was the hottest in both the Coastal (maximum temperature (Tmax): 98.76°F) and the Piedmont regions (Tmax: 98.45°F). During the study period, July was the record hottest month in Coastal (Tmax: 98.76°F), and June was the hottest in the Piedmont (102.20°F) region. Whereas the annual rate of HRI ER visits was the highest during the summer of 2015 in Coastal (82.59 per 100,000) and Piedmont (45.69 per 100,000) [table.1]. In the Coastal region, the highest number

of HRI ER visits (n=109) were observed on Jun 16, 2015 (Tuesday), the hottest day during the summer of 2015, with a record maximum temperature of 97.99 °F. Similarly, in the Piedmont region, the highest number of HRI ER visits (n=100) were observed on Jun 23, 2015 (Tuesday), with a recorded maximum temperature of 95.70°F. In both physiographic divisions in North Carolina, we observed 14 days starting from Jun 13 – Jun 27 in 2015 that

Table 1. The annual rate of HRI ER visits per 100,000

	2011	2012	2014	2015	2016
Coastal	57.71	50.05	35.46	82.59	54.52
Piedmont	39.12	33.66	19.00	45.69	45.22

Rate = (observed HRI-ER visits / population) * 100,000 Health data from year 2013 was not provided by the NC-DETECT

exceeded a maximum daily temperature threshold of 90°F.

A similar pattern was observed anecdotally during the summer of 2012 and 2016, where the record highest number of ER visits were during the period where the daily maximum temperature exceed 90°F for a minimum of 10 consecutive days. We observed a higher rate of ER visits during the weekdays in both the physiographic regions in North Carolina. The rate of HRI ER visits was relatively higher during the weekdays while exposed to lower temperature compared to the weekends.

3.2 EPIDEMIOLOGIC RELATIONSHIP

To evaluate the relationship between extreme temperature and HRI ER visits, a stratified by physiographic divisions was conducted (Coastal and Piedmont).

3.2.1 COASTAL REGION

To evaluate the relationship, the correlation coefficient was calculated between all the meteorological/heat-indices (continuous) variables included in the study. Using a Pearson correlation coefficient matrix, the National Weather Service Heat Index (NWS HI) and daily maximum temperature were identified to be positively correlated with the rate of HRI ER visits (Figure 5-A). In Figure 5, the outcome of interest is the logarithmic rate of ER visits, with higher values representing stronger correlation with the independent variables included in the analysis. A non-linear pattern of association between

NWS_HI/maximum temperature and HRI ER visits was observed. To expand the analysis a non-linear regression approach was used in this study.



Figure 5. Association between meteorological variables/heat indices and HRI ER visits (A-Coastal & B-Piedmont). The above figure is a Pearson correlation coefficient matrix that allows us to understand the association between two continous variables. In this figure, we would like to highlight the correlation between daily maximum temperature and rate of HRI ER visits. The color bar represent the direction of association: red (negative association) and blue (positive association); darker colors represent stronger association. In this figure, we are interested to understand the association between the log rate of HRI ER visits and other indipendent variables included in the study.

To evaluate the non-linear association between NWS HI/maximum temperature and HRI ER visits, the GAM model with cubic regression splines and gamma distribution with log link feature was used. The performance of statistical models was compared using an ANOVA test and identified that the predictor variable maximum temperature has an optimum model fit to estimate the rate of HRI ER visits. A seasonal trend in HRI ER visits was observed. To decompose the trend, we used day of the week (DOW), month of the year, and year as covariates in the prediction model [Equation 1].

$$\log(\mathbb{E}[\text{Rate. ER visits}]) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} b_j (Tmax)\beta_j + \text{DOW} + \text{Month} + \text{Year} + \varepsilon \dots (1)$$

In Equation 1, n is the number of splines, b represents the spline term, β represents coefficient specific to spline term and ε is the model error associated with the model. The model was built using three penalized cubic regression splines for daily maximum temperature variable (smoothing splines are optimized using Generalized Cross-Validation function), with an effective degree of freedom value of 1.99 demonstrating non-linear association. We optimized model performance using the GAM model diagnostic summary [Figure 6-A].

3.2.1 PIEDMONT REGION

Similar to the Coastal region, we estimated the Pearson correlation coefficient between meteorological variables/heat indices and HRI ER visits. The variables, NWS HI and daily maximum temperature were positively correlated with HRI ER visits [Figure 5-B].

A non-linear pattern between NWS HI/maximum temperature and HRI ER visits was observed. To evaluate the non-linear association between the NWS HI/maximum temperature and HRI ER visits, the GAM model with cubic regression splines was used. The performance of the statistical models was compared using the ANOVA test and identified that using daily maximum temperature as a predictor to estimate the rate of HRI ER visits has an optimal fit. To decompose the time-series trend, the day of the week (DOW), the month of the year and year were used as covariates in the prediction model [Equation 1].



Figure 6. Relationship between maximum temperature and HRI ER visits (A-Coastal & B-Piedmont). This is a plot generated using the GAM model to visually represent the relationship between daily maximum temperature and HRI ER visits. The x-axis represent daily maximum temperature in Fahrenheit and the yaxis represent residual rate of ER visits (difference between actual and estimated) From this plot we could observe an exponential trend. The lines on the x-axis represents number of observations, which explains the width of the confidence intervals (less number of observations could result wider confidence intervals).

The model was built using four penalized cubic regression splines for the daily maximum temperature variable (smoothing splines are optimized using Generalized Cross-Validation function), with an effective degree of freedom value of 2.95 demonstrating non-linear association [Figure 6-B].

3.3 HEATWAVE SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

To evaluate the sensitivity of heatwave definitions in North Carolina, 28 Heatwave definitions were adapted from peer-reviewed literature. The heatwave definitions were based on a meteorological variable, variable threshold, and duration. Additionally, relative and absolute heatwave definitions were included based on extreme, high, and moderate threshold values. [Equation 2]

$$\log(\#HRI \ ER \ visits) = \beta_0 + \beta_1 (HW_{day}) + \ln(\text{population}) + \varepsilon \dots (2)$$

	tion metric				COAStal	COASIAI INN COASIA	Coastal Pleamont	Pleamont IKK Pleamont	H
S99th 2+consecutive 3-09th Relativ Smith et al 84.49 0.68 (0.50-0.94) 25 83.11 99th 3+consecutive 3+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan temperature 9.91 3+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 3.43 4.21 (3.50-510) 2. 81.19 Mean daily >98th 3+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan temperature 3.92 (3.16.4.90) 12 81.17 >99th 3+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 3+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan point 3.92 (3.16.4.90) 15 81.16 >90th 3+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan post 9.93 (3.25-4.00) 16 78.14 >90th 3+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan post 9.50 (3.25-4.00) 16 78.14 Maximum daily >98th 2+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan post 9.50 (3.25-4.00) 16 78.14 Maximum daily >98th 2+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan post 9.50 (3.54-4.01) 15 9.445 Maximum daily >98th 2+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan post 9.50 (3.54-4.20) 15 78.144 Maximum daily <		Threshold	Duration (days)	11	threshold (°F)		threshold (°F)	(95% CI) rank	1.1
S99th 3+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Naidyanathan 0.445 0.66 (0.46-0.96) 26 0.413 98th 2+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Naidyanathan 81.3 3.23 (3.44.4.50) 12 81.97 Wean daily >98th 2+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Naidyanathan 81.76 3.92 (3.44.4.50) 12 81.97 S95th 2+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Naidyanathan 81.76 3.92 (3.44.4.50) 12 81.07 S90th 2+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Naidyanathan 78.93 3.60 (3.25-4.10) 15 80.06 S99th 2+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Naidyanathan 95.08 0.84 (0.59-1.25) 23 95.94 S99th 2+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Naidyanathan 93.76 4.06 (3.10-5.4.01) 16 94.45 Maximum daily S95th 2+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Naidyanathan 93.76 4.03 (3.10-5.4.0) 12 91.94 S91th 2+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Naidyanathan 93.76 4.06 (3.10-5.4.4.1) 14 94.45 Maximum daily S95th 3+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Naidyanathan 9		>99th	2+consecutive	Relativ Smith et al	07 40		82 11	4.40 (3.31-6.00) 4	
Mean daily Mean daily598th Sett2+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan atomsecutive81.414.21 (3:50-5.10) 281.97Mean daily south>95th 3+consecutive3+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 3+20th3-22 (3:16-4.92) 1181.97South south2+consecutive 8+lativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 3+90th3+23 (3:16-4.92) 1180.06>90th south2+consecutive 8+lativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 3+90th3+24 (6) 93+24 (6) 9>90th south2+consecutive 8+lativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 3+90th3+20 (3:25-115) 281.94>90th south2+consecutive 8+lativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 3+95th95.080.45 (0:29-0.73) 2895.94Maximum daily softh2+consecutive 3+55th8+lativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 93.7695.080.45 (0:29-0.73) 2895.94Maximum daily softh2+consecutive 3+55th8+lativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 93.7695.080.45 (0:29-0.73) 2895.94Maximum daily softh2+consecutive 3+55th8+lativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 93.7695.060.45 (0:29-0.73) 2891.94Maximum daily softh2+consecutive 3+55th8+lativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 93.7695.044.03 (3:51-4.63) 591.94Maximum daily softh3+consecutive 3+consecutiveRelativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 93.7595.044.03 (3:51-4.73) 195.003-35°C1day 3+consecutiveAbsolu Smith et al 		>99th	3+consecutive		01:40	0.66 (0.46-0.96) 26	TTTOO	3.98 (2.83-5.82) 9	
Mean daily>98th3+consecutiveRelativAnderson/Vaidyanathan81.763.32 (3.16.4.92) 110.0.0temperature>95th2-consecutiveRelativAnderson/Vaidyanathan81.763.32 (3.45.4.50) 1580.06>90th3+consecutiveRelativAnderson/Vaidyanathan79.893.60 (3.25-1.15) 2395.94>90th3+consecutiveRelativAnderson/Vaidyanathan79.893.60 (3.25-1.15) 2395.94>99th3+consecutiveRelativAnderson/Vaidyanathan79.893.60 (3.25-4.15) 1578.14>99th3+consecutiveRelativAnderson/Vaidyanathan93.764.06 (3.10.5.4.4) 794.45Maximum daily>98th3+consecutiveRelativAnderson/Vaidyanathan93.764.06 (3.10.5.4.4) 794.45Maximum daily>98th3+consecutiveRelativAnderson/Vaidyanathan91.644.03 (3.25-1.61) 1480.50\$55th2+consecutiveRelativAnderson/Vaidyanathan93.764.06 (3.10.5.4.4) 794.45\$55th2+consecutiveRelativAnderson/Vaidyanathan95.504.03 (3.24.70) 555.04\$55th2+consecutiveRelativAnderson/Vaidyanathan95.553.79 (3.41.4.12) 1489.50\$55th2+consecutiveRelativAnderson/Vaidyanathan95.553.79 (3.41.4.2) 1370.52\$55th2+consecutiveRelativAnderson/Vaidyanathan95.504.28 (3.24.4.12) 1270.52\$55th2+consecutiveRela		>98th	2+consecutive			4.21 (3.50-5.10) 2	81 07	3.83 (3.15-4.70) 17	
temperature >95th 2+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan B1.76 3.92 (3.44.4.50) 2 80.06 >95th 3+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 79.89 3.60 (3.25-4.00) 12 78.14 >90th 3+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 79.89 3.60 (3.25-4.00) 13 78.14 >99th 3+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 79.89 3.60 (3.25-4.00) 16 78.14 >99th 3+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 95.08 0.84 (0.59-1.25) 3 95.94 >99th 3+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 93.76 4.06 (3.10-5.44) 94.45 Naximum daily >98th 3+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 93.76 4.06 (3.10-5.44) 94.45 Naximum daily >98th 3+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 93.76 4.06 (3.10-5.44) 71.35 Naximum daily >95th 3+consecutive Relativ	Mean daily	>98th	3+consecutive		S. 1.1	3.92 (3.16-4.92) 11	16.10	3.92 (3.15-4.95) 11	
>95th 3+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 3:99 (3.48-4.60) 9 2:000 >90th 2+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 7:88 3:60 (3.25-4.00) 16 78:14 >90th 2+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 9:50 3:60 (3.25-4.00) 16 78:14 >99th 3+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 9:50 0:84 (0.59-1.25) 28 9:5.94 >98th 2+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 9:5.08 0:84 (0.59-1.25) 28 9:5.94 Naximum daily >98th 2+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 9:5.06 0:84 (0.52-1.31) 9:4.45 Maximum daily >98th 2+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 9:5.61.4.72) 9:4.45 Acconsecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 9:6.61 4:02 (3:1.4.72) 9:1.94 Acconsecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 9:6.61 4:02 (3:1.4.72) 9:1.94	temperature	>95th	2+consecutive	Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan		3.92 (3.44-4.50) 12	SD D6	3.85 (3.40-4.37) 15	
S90th 2+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 79.89 3.60 (3.25-15) 15 78.14 >90th 3-consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 3.60 (3.25-4.00) 16 78.14 >99th 3-consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 95.08 0.45 (0.29-0.3) 28 95.94 >98th 3-consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 93.76 4.13 (3.25-5.31) 4 94.45 Naximum daily >98th 3-consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 93.76 4.13 (3.25-5.31) 4 94.45 Naximum daily >98th 3-consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 91.64 4.03 (3.51-4.79) 5 91.94 >90th 3-consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 91.64 4.03 (3.51-4.79) 5 91.94 >90th 3-consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 91.64 4.03 (3.51-4.79) 5 91.94 >90th 3-consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 91.64 4.03 (3.51-4.79) 5 91.94 Soft 2+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 91.64 4.03 (3.51-4.79) 5		>95th	3+consecutive	Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan			00.00	3.91 (3.42-4.48) 12	
>90th $3+consecutive Relative Anderson/Vaidyanathan 7-30 3.60 3.25,4.00 16 7-30 >99th 2+consecutive Relative Smith et allow 95.08 0.381 (0.59-1.25) 395.94 >98th 3+consecutive Relative Anderson/Vaidyanathan 93.76 4.03 (0.59-1.25) 395.94 >98th 3+consecutive Relative Anderson/Vaidyanathan 93.76 4.03 (3.10-5.44) 7 Naximum daily >95th 3+consecutive Relative Anderson/Vaidyanathan 91.64 4.03 (3.24-4.0) 16 >90th 2+consecutive Relative Anderson/Vaidyanathan 91.64 4.03 (3.41-4.1) 14 >90th 2+consecutive Relative Anderson/Vaidyanathan 89.55 3.79 3.4.1, 25 34.00 >91th 2+consecutive Relative Anderson/Vaidyanathan 89.55 3.79 3.4.1, 22 31.24.1, 23 31.24.1, 23 31.24 >91th 2+consecutive Relative Anderson/Vaidyanathan 89.55$		>90th	2+consecutive	Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan			78.14	3.73 (3.37-4.13) 18	
>99th2+consecutiveRelativ Smith et al95.080.84 (0.59-1.25)2395.94>99th3-consecutiveRelativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan93.760.45 (0.290.73)2894.45>98th2-consecutiveRelativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan93.760.45 (0.290.73)28.4594.45Naximum daily>98th3-consecutiveRelativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan91.644.03 (3.10-5.44)794.45Naximum daily>98th3-consecutiveRelativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan91.644.03 (3.51-4.63)891.94>90th2-consecutiveRelativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan91.644.03 (3.51-4.19)1489.50>90th2-consecutiveRelativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan89.553.79 (3.41-4.19)1489.50>90th3-consecutiveRelativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan89.553.79 (3.41-4.22)1395.00>90th3-consecutiveRelativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan89.553.79 (3.41-4.22)1395.00>90th2-consecutiveRelativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan95.004.28 (3.21-5.87)195.00>90th2-consecutiveRelativ Adapted/revised74.053.17 (2.53-4.03)202.55>90th3-consecutiveRelativ Adapted/revised74.053.17 (2.53-4.03)2.55Solution2-sonsecutiveRelativ Adapted/revised72.653.31 (2.56-4.44)70.52Minimum daily95th3-consecutiveRelativ Adapted/revised74.053.31 (2.55-4.43) <t< td=""><td></td><td>>90th</td><td>3+consecutive</td><td></td><td>-</td><td></td><td>tT.0/</td><td>3.72 (3.36-4.13) 19</td><td></td></t<>		>90th	3+consecutive		-		tT.0/	3.72 (3.36-4.13) 19	
>99th 3+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 0.45 0.29 0.73 28 0.45 0.46 0.45 0.45 0.45 0.45 0.45 0.45 0.45 0.45 0.45 0.45 0.45 0.45		>99th	2+consecutive	Relativ Smith et al	95.08		95 94	4.34 (3.07-6.38) 6	
>98th 2+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 3+consecutive 93.76 4.13 (3.26-5.31) 4 3+consecutive 94.45 Maximum daily >98th 3+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan temperature 93.76 4.13 (3.26-5.31) 4 3+consecutive 94.45 temperature >95th 2+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 89.55 4.06 (3.10-5.44) 7 3+consecutive 94.45 >90th 2+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 89.55 3.76 (3.10-5.44) 7 3+consecutive 91.64 4.03 (3.51-4.03) 5 3.73 (3.41-4.12) 14 89.50 >90th 2+consecutive Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 89.55 3.78 (3.41-4.12) 14 89.50 >99th 2+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 74.96 0.72 (0.52-1.01) 24 71.35 Ninimum daily >98th 2+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 74.05 3.17 (2.53-4.03) 20 70.52 Minimum daily >98th 2+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 74.05 3.17 (2.53-4.03) 20 70.52 Solth 2+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 72.63 3.31 (2.56-3.31) 2 69.15		>99th	3+consecutive		00.00		t	3.90 (2.56-6.29) 13	
Maximum daily temperature>98th 3+consecutive3+consecutiveRelativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 91.640.004.06(3.10-5.44)70.00>95th2+consecutiveRelativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 3+consecutive81.644.00(3.51-4.63)891.94>90th2+consecutiveRelativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 3+consecutiveRelativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 89.5591.644.00(3.51-4.12)1424.04>90th3+consecutiveRelativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 3+consecutiveAbsolu Smith et al50.004.28(3.41-4.12)14>91th3+consecutiveRelativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 3-5.004.00(3.10-5.44)1770.52>90th3+consecutiveRelativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan 3+consecutiveAbsolu Smith et al74.960.72(5.2-4.41)770.52Minimum daily>98th2+consecutiveRelativ Adapted/revised74.053.1725.0070.5270.52S9th3+consecutiveRelativ Adapted/revised74.053.1725.64-3.3170.5270.52Minimum daily>98th3+consecutiveRelativ Adapted/revised72.633.332.9567.51S9th3+consecutiveRelativ Adapted/revised70.962.972.65-3.342167.51S9th3+consecutiveRelativ Adapted/revised70.962.972.65-3.342167.51S9th3+consecutiveRelativ Adapted/revised </td <td></td> <td>>98th</td> <td>2+consecutive</td> <td>Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan</td> <td></td> <td>4.13 (3.26-5.31) 4</td> <td>ON AE</td> <td>4.40 (3.45-5.73) 3</td> <td></td>		>98th	2+consecutive	Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan		4.13 (3.26-5.31) 4	ON AE	4.40 (3.45-5.73) 3	
	Maximum daily	>98th	3+consecutive	Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan	1 1 1 1 1	4.06 (3.10-5.44) 7	nt.tn	4.62 (3.54-6.17) 1	
Cemperature>95th $3 \pm consecutiveRelativAnderson/Vaidyanathan2.553.793.4.135.00>90th2 \pm consecutiveRelativAnderson/Vaidyanathan89.553.733.4.1.3189.50>90th3 \pm consecutiveRelativAnderson/Vaidyanathan89.553.793.4.1.4.1914>90th3 \pm consecutiveRelativAnderson/Vaidyanathan89.553.793.4.1.4.1914>99th3 \pm consecutiveRelativSmith et al74.960.72(0.52-1.01)24>99th3 \pm consecutiveRelativSmith et al74.053.17(2.53-4.03)70.52Seth2 \pm consecutiveRelativAdapted/revised74.053.17(2.55-4.14)70.52Minimum daily>98th2 \pm consecutiveRelativAdapted/revised72.633.33(2.96-4.44)77Ninimum daily>98th2 \pm consecutiveRelativAdapted/revised72.633.33(2.96-4.34)70.52Minimum daily>95th3 \pm consecutiveRelativAdapted/revised72.653.33(2.96-4.44)70.52SetomosecutiveRelativAdapted/revised72.653.33(2.96-4.34)70.52SetomosecutiveRelativAdapted/revised72.653.33(2.96-3.36)95.65SetomosecutiveRelativAdapted/revised70.962.95(2.96$	tomporaturo	>95th	2+consecutive	Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan			01 04	3.90 (3.39-4.50) 13	
$ \begin{array}{l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l $	remperature	>95th	3+consecutive		-	4.09 (3.51-4.79) 5	10.10	3.94 (3.35-4.65) 10	
$ \begin{array}{l c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		>90th	2+consecutive	Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan		3.78 (3.41-4.19) 14	80 EU	3.87 (3.48-4.30) 14	
>35°C 1day Absolu Smith et al 95.00 4.28 (3.21-5.87) 1 95.00 >99th 2+consecutive Relativ Smith et al 74.96 0.72 (0.52-1.01) 24 71.35 >99th 3+consecutive Relativ Smith et al 74.96 0.74 (0.32-0.68) 27 71.35 >98th 2+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 74.05 3.60 (2.96-4.44) 17 70.52 Ninimum daily >98th 3+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 74.05 3.17 (2.53-4.03) 20 71.35 Ninimum daily >98th 3+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 74.05 3.33 (2.89-3.86) 19 69.15 Poth 2+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 72.63 3.33 (2.89-3.36) 12 69.15 Softh 3+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 72.63 3.33 (2.89-3.36) 12 69.15 Maximum daily >90th 2+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 70.96 2.95 (2.64-3.31) 22 67.51 Maximum daily >95th 3+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 70.96 2.97 (2.65-3.34) 21		>90th	3+consecutive	Relativ Anderson/Vaidyanathan	-	3.79 (3.41-4.22) 13	00.00	3.84 (3.45-4.29) 16	
>99th 2+consecutive Relativ Smith et al 74.96 0.72 (0.52-1.01) 24 71.35 >99th 3+consecutive Relativ Smith et al 0.46 (0.32-0.68) 27 71.35 >98th 2+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 74.05 3.60 (2.96-4.44) 17 70.52 Ninimum daily >98th 3+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 74.05 3.17 (2.53-4.03) 20 70.52 Ninimum daily >95th 2+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 74.05 3.33 (2.89-3.86) 19 69.15 \$>90th 2+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 72.63 3.33 (2.89-3.36) 12 69.15 Maximum daily >90th 2+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 70.96 2.95 (2.64-3.31) 22 67.51 Maximum daily >95th 1 day Absolu Steadman 97.16 98.99 4.09 (3.20-5.31) 6 98.99 Maximum daily >95th 1 day Absolu Steadman 97.16 97.16 Atenperature >85th 1 day Absolu Steadman 97.16 97.16 97.16		> 35°C	1day		95.00	4.28 (3.21-5.87) 1	95.00	4.61 (3.56-6.09) 2	
>99th 3+consecutive Relativ Smith et al 74.05 0.46 (0.32-0.68) 27 74.05 >98th 2+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 74.05 3.60 (2.96-4.44) 17 70.52 Ninimum daily >98th 3+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 74.05 3.60 (2.96-4.44) 17 70.52 Ninimum daily >95th 3+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 72.63 3.33 (2.89-3.86) 19 69.15 >90th 2+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 72.63 3.33 (2.89-3.86) 19 69.15 >90th 2+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 70.63 3.77 (2.53-4.03) 18 67.51 Maximum daily >95th 3+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 70.96 2.95 (2.64-3.31) 22 67.51 Maximum daily >95th 1 day Absolu Steadman 98.99 4.09 (3.20-5.31) 6 98.99 apparent >90th 1 day Absolu Steadman 97.16 4.18 (3.55-4.95) 3 97.16 temperature >85th 1 day Absolu Steadman 95.85 3.97 (3.49-4.54) 10 95.85		>99th	2+consecutive	Relativ Smith et al	70 06		71 35	2.91 (2.28-3.77) 21	
>98th 2+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 74.05 3.60 (2.96-4.44) 17 70.52 Minimum daily >98th 3+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 74.05 3.17 (2.53-4.03) 20 70.52 Very temperature >95th 2+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 72.63 3.33 (2.89-3.86) 19 69.15 >90th 2+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 72.63 3.33 (2.89-3.86) 19 69.15 >90th 2+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 70.63 3.50 (3.01-4.09) 18 67.51 Maximum daily >95th 1 day Absolu Steadman 98.99 4.09 (3.20-5.31) 6 98.99 apparent >90th 1 day Absolu Steadman 97.16 98.99 4.09 (3.50-5.31) 6 97.16 temperature >85th 1 day Absolu Steadman 97.16 97.16 97.16		>99th	3+consecutive	Relativ Smith et al	00.11	0.46 (0.32-0.68) 27	CC.T /	2.72 (2.02-3.74) 27	
Minimum daily >98th 3+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 7.00 3.17 (2.53-4.03) 20 7.00 temperature >95th 2+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 72.63 3.33 (2.89-3.86) 19 69.15 >90th 2+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 72.63 3.33 (2.89-3.86) 19 69.15 >90th 2+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 70.96 2.95 (2.64-3.31) 22 67.51 Maximum daily >95th 1 day Absolu Steadman 98.99 4.09 (3.20-5.31) 6 98.99 apparent >90th 1 day Absolu Steadman 97.16 98.99 4.09 (3.50-5.31) 6 98.99 temperature >85th 1 day Absolu Steadman 95.85 3.97 (3.49-4.54) 10 95.85		>98th	2+consecutive	Relativ Adapted/revised	74.05	3.60 (2.96-4.44) 17	70 52	2.73 (2.28-3.30) 26	
temperature >95th 2+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 72.63 3.33 (2.89-3.86) 19 69.15 >90th 2+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 72.63 3.50 (3.01-4.09) 18 69.15 >90th 2+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 70.96 2.95 (2.64-3.31) 22 67.51 Maximum daily >95th 1 day Absolu Steadman 98.99 4.09 (3.20-5.31) 6 98.99 apparent >90th 1 day Absolu Steadman 97.16 98.99 4.09 (3.55-4.95) 3 97.16 temperature >85th 1 day Absolu Steadman 95.85 3.97 (3.49-4.54) 10 95.85	Minimum daily	>98th	3+consecutive	Relativ Adapted/revised	00.1	3.17 (2.53-4.03) 20	10.0	2.79 (2.28-3.46) 25	
>95th 3+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 2.00 3.50 (3.01-4.09) 18 0.00 >90th 2+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 70.96 2.95 (2.64-3.31) 22 67.51 Maximum daily >95th 1 day Absolu Steadman 98.99 4.09 (3.20-5.31) 6 98.99 apparent >90th 1 day Absolu Steadman 97.16 98.99 47.16 temperature >85th 1 day Absolu Steadman 95.85 3.97 (3.49-4.54) 10 95.85	temperature	>95th	2+consecutive	Relativ Adapted/revised	77 63		60 15	2.83 (2.47-3.24) 24	
>90th 2+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 70.96 2.95 (2.64-3.31) 22 67.51 >90th 3+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 2.97 (2.65-3.34) 21 67.51 Maximum daily >95th 1 day Absolu Steadman 98.99 4.09 (3.20-5.31) 6 98.99 apparent >90th 1 day Absolu Steadman 97.16 4.18 (3.55-4.95) 3 97.16 temperature >85th 1 day Absolu Steadman 95.85 3.97 (3.49-4.54) 10 95.85		>95th	3+consecutive	Relativ Adapted/revised	CO.7/		01.00	2.98 (2.59-3.44) 20	
>90th 3+consecutive Relativ Adapted/revised 7.00 2.97 (2.65-3.34) 21 07.01 Maximum daily >95th 1 day Absolu Steadman 98.99 4.09 (3.20-5.31) 6 98.99 apparent >90th 1 day Absolu Steadman 97.16 4.18 (3.55-4.95) 3 97.16 temperature >85th 1 day Absolu Steadman 95.85 3.97 (3.49-4.54) 10 95.85		>90th	2+consecutive	Relativ Adapted/revised	20 06	2.95 (2.64-3.31) 22	67 51	2.89 (2.58-3.25) 22	
Maximum daily >95th 1 day Absolu Steadman 98.99 4.09 (3.20-5.31) 6 98.99 apparent >90th 1 day Absolu Steadman 97.16 4.18 (3.55-4.95) 3 97.16 temperature >85th 1 day Absolu Steadman 95.85 3.97 (3.49-4.54) 10 95.85		>90th	3+consecutive	Relativ Adapted/revised	00.01	2.97 (2.65-3.34) 21	TC' 10	2.84 (2.52-3.20) 23	
27 apparent >90th 1 day Absolu Steadman 97.16 4.18 (3.55-4.95) 3 97.16 28 temperature >85th 1 day Absolu Steadman 95.85 3.97 (3.49-4.54) 10 95.85	Maximum daily	>95th	1 day	Absolu Steadman	66.96		98.99	4.35 (3.24-6.02) 5	
temperature >85th 1 day Absolu Steadman 95.85 3.97 (3.49-4.54) 10 95.85	27 apparent	>90th	1 day	Absolu Steadman	97.16	4.18 (3.55-4.95) 3	97.16	4.15 (3.41-5.11) 7	
	temperature	>85th	1 day	Absolu Steadman	95.85	3.97 (3.49-4.54) 10	95.85	4.07 (3.52-4.73) 8	
Model: Dependent variable = count of ER visits Independent variable = Heatwave definition Offset term = population	MG	odel: Depen		count of ER visits Independent va	iriable = Heatwa	ve definition Offset te	rm = population		

enilose dina N 4 . ì . -Concitivity Calder

Copyright © 2021 Society of Actuaries

Heatwave definitions were tested by physiographic division in North Carolina. The analytic dataset includes the daily aggregate count of HRI ER visits (outcome variable) with the population as an offset term, and

every day in the summer during the study period was classified as heatwave or nonheatwave day using multiple heatwave definitions (predictor variable). To understand the relative risk attributable to individual heatwave definition, the negative binomial regression approach was used [Equation 2] to estimate the incidence risk ratio along with a 95% confidence interval.

Using an absolute threshold was found to be highly sensitive (higher probability of HRI ER visits during heatwave days) to identify HRI ER visits in both Coastal and Piedmont regions compared with other heatwave definitions available in the literature [Table. 2]. The incidence risk ratio (probability of an individual visiting the ER due to HRI during a heatwave day) was 4.28 times higher (95% Cl 3.21-5.87) in the Coastal region and 4.61 times higher (95% CI 3.56-6.09) in the Piedmont region during a heatwave day based on the definition with an absolute threshold where temperature maximum is greater or equal to 95°F in a day. Based on this observation, using the above-mentioned heatwave definition would effectively minimize the HRI ER visits during extremely heat vulnerable days in North Carolina [Figure 7].





This box plot shows the distribution of HRI ER visits during the study period, by physiographic division in NC. Each dot represents HRI ER visits per day. The orange dots are a count of ER visits during a heatwave day (daily maximum temperature $\geq 95^{\circ}$ F) and the blue dots represent a count of ER visits during nonheatwave days. In Figure 6, we highlight the finding from heatwave sensitivity analysis, that using heatwave definition using absolute threshold of daily maximum apparent temperature greater or equal to 95° F, could effectively minimize the extreme HRI ER visits.

3.4 IMPACT OF ANTHROPOGENIC CLIMATE CHANGE ON HRI

Figure 7 shows the maximum temperature probability distribution under the observed historical

(Observed) and non-anthropogenic historical conditions (Natural). The plot shows that the probability of extreme hot days is higher in the actual observations than the natural simulations in both the Coastal and Piedmont regions [Figure 8]. Additionally, we estimated the rate of HRI ER visits during natural scenario by physiographic region in North Carolina for year 2011, 2012, 2014 and 2015 using the GAM model (equation 1), trained using the actual observations.

A decrease in the pattern of HRI ER visits was observed during the natural scenario compared to the actual observed values [Figure 9]. Fewer HRI ER visits was consistent across the months during the study period. In the Coastal region during the summer of 2011 and 2015 there are a frequent number of days with a greater difference between the observed ER visits and ER visits estimated using natural simulations. In Piedmont the range of difference between observed and estimated ER visits using natural simulations was narrower compared to the Coastal region.

Using the heatwave definition from the sensitivity analysis, "daily temperature maximum



Figure. 8 Probability distribution of the daily maximum temperature for historically observed and non-anthropogenic (Natural) simulations for (a) costal and (b) Piedmont regions. (summers of 2011-2016)

greater or equal to 95°F in a day" would effectively detect the majority of the peaks the rate in of anomalies during the study period [Figure 9]. In the Coastal region, using the heatwave definition "temperature maximum greater or equal to 95°F threshold could reduce the HRI ER visit related

		Avg.		Percent	Avg. healthcare
Region	Measure	Count	Avg. Cost	difference	cost
	Observed	11.63	1239.40 (V1)		
Coastal	Estimated	8.70	927.15 (V2)		
				-25.19 (X1)	
	Observed	14.20	1513.29 (V1)		
Piedmont	Estimated	10.32	1099.80 (V2)		
				-27.32 (X2)	
North					= [(X1+ X2)/2] = [(25.19 +
Carolina					27.32)/2] = 26.25
	Actual ER visi – Calculated a		non-anthropoge	nic climate ch	ange [Natural]

Table 3. Healthcare cost by physiographic division

expenditure by 11.43%. Similarly, in Piedmont region we could reduce an average of 15.81% of the healthcare cost spent towards HRI ER visits. Additionally, we estimated that an excess of 25.19% of the cost



related to HRI ER visits in Coastal and 27.32% Piedmont region could be attributed to anthropogenic climate change (percentage difference calculation available in appendix) [Table 3.].

Section 4: Conclusion

The purpose of this study was to demonstrate a methodology to understand the relationship between extreme heat exposure and heat related illness ER visits using North Carolina data as a template that could be used elsewhere. This study consisted of an evaluation of the epidemiologic relationship between extreme heat exposure and HRI ER visits, a sensitivity analysis on heatwave definitions available from the literature, and a climate attribution analysis (includes morbidity and cost analysis). The meteorological variable "daily maximum temperature" was determined to be best suited for estimating the HRI ER visits compared to other meteorological variables and heat indices evaluated in the study. The results also indicate that using the heatwave definition "daily temperature maximum greater or equal to 95 °F in a day" was more effective at identifying HRI ER visits during the summer season compared to existing early warning systems in the Coastal and Piedmont regions of North Carolina. The Mountain region was not included since daily ER visits below three for a hospital were suppressed, leaving insufficient data to draw conclusions.

The results from this report also show that human induced climate change likely caused a 26.25% increase in healthcare expenditure spent towards HRI ER visits in North Carolina [Table 3]. Actuaries can use the framework of this report to identify health impacts from heat events and determine excess burden that human-induced climate change has on health impacts and cost on their coverage areas. Similar work can be done for other fields to determine current costs of climate change on human health. This report, along with the GitHub repository, was created to help actuaries perform similar analysis for their work.

Section 5: Strength and Limitations

The study is based on a syndromic surveillance database that covers all the HRI ER visits (not a sample-based study) in North Carolina during the summers of the study period. We covered a longer timeframe (~5 years), containing daily observations, which aligns with the structure of the temperature data. We have used the physiographic divisions in North Carolina, instead of traditional geographic boundaries, which is significant while evaluating the relationship between temperature and health outcomes. We have tested the relationship with the lag temperature terms and did not identify significant relationships. To evaluate the relationship between exposure and outcome, we have used the generalized additive model, which is robust to evaluate non-linear relationships.

The major limitation of the study is the exposure assessment. The meteorological variables / heat indices are not personal measurements. Instead, we have used weather station ground observations as a proxy. The daily HRI ER visit data received from the NC DETECT syndromic surveillance database, contain censored information to protect the patient privacy according to the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability (HIPPA) regulation. The daily HRI ER daily visit data that contain less than five visits per day by physiographic region are censored. As a result of censoring, about 85% of the HRI ER visit data from the Mountain region was missing. Due to missing and censored data, we excluded the Mountain region for the analysis. Additionally, the health care cost was estimated using the average Medicaid HRI ER visit expenditure in 2019.

Section 6: Recommendations to reduce health outcomes from extreme heat

The following recommendations (6.1 and 6.2) come from the CDC

6.1 PUBLIC HEALTH ACTIONS

- Educating communities on heat health related illnesses (symptoms, when to consult a physician)
- Providing designated cooling shelters during the summer season
- Promoting community participatory events on planting tree in urban heat islands.

6.2 INDIVIDUAL

- Applying sunscreen at least 30 minutes prior to the exposure to sunlight.
- Drinking more fluids, despite of thirst or engagement in an activity.
- Avoid drinking alcoholic and high sugar beverages.

6.3 ADDITIONAL HEAT HEALTH RESOURCES

- CDC: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nceh/features/extremeheat/index.html</u>
- <u>https://nihhis.cpo.noaa.gov/</u>
- <u>https://www.weather.gov/rah/heat</u>
- <u>https://www.ready.gov/heat</u>
- https://www.who.int/globalchange/publications/heat-and-health/en/

Section 7: Future direction

The methods and framework from this report are designed to assist actuaries to calculate the impacts of extreme weather and climate events on human health outcomes. This report provides actuaries a methodology to use attribution and detection analysis in identifying the excess health burden from historical climate change on extreme events. The concepts in this report are focused on extreme temperature due to the strongest evidence linking it to climate change. However, this framework could be adjusted for other extreme events. As extreme heat likely kills more people every year than any other climate or weather-related event, the research also provides a framework to define heatwave sensitivity for other locations outside the study area. This document also serves as a way to estimate excess morbidity that leads to medical resource burden and preventable healthcare costs. By following the methods in this report, actuaries could replicate this project to understand the costs of human-caused climate change on other health outcomes (motor vehicle crash, depression, maternal health outcomes, etc.) or evaluating other extreme events.



Section 8: Acknowledgements

The researchers wish to extend their gratitude to collaborators from multiple organizations, POG members, and SOA members for providing data and reviewing the report for accuracy and relevance.

- Lauren Thie NC DHHS (Provided health data)
- Jared Rennie NOAA NCEI (Provided historical temperature data)
- Julia Lerche NC Medicaid (Provided healthcare cost data)
- Daithi Stone University of Wellington (Provided temperature natural simulation data)
- Kathryn Conlon UC Davis (Provided feedback on the analysis)
- Stephanie Herring NOAA NCEI (Advised on natural simulation data)
- Dann Mitchell University of Bristol (Provided feedback on the analysis)
- Eunice Lo University of Bristol (Provided feedback on the analysis)
- Rebecca Owen HCA Solutions (Provided feedback on cost estimation)

Project Oversight Group Members:

- Max Rudolph
- Tom Bakos
- Eric Ebel
- Priya Rohatgi
- Allan Ropski
- Adam Watts
- Sara Goldberg
- Emily Dougherty
- Rebecca Owen
- Julia Lerche

At the Society of Actuaries:

- Scott Lennox
- Rob Montgomery
- Erika Schulty

Appendix:

The model summary for Coastal region include AIC : 189 ; R-sq (adj) : 78 ; deviance explained : 78.4% and GCV : 0.1843. Similarly, for Piedmont the diagnostics include AIC: -1779; R-sq (adj): 76.8; deviance explained: 80.8% and GCV: 0.1879.

To maintain research reproducibility, we documented the data frame properties and the R-code that we have used to generate the results. Additionally, any changes related to the analysis will be updated periodically. GitHub link: <u>https://github.com/jagadeeshpuvvula/Heatwave-study</u>

GAM model summary:

Coastal Region

Family: Gamma Link function: log

Formula:

imp_rate ~ s(Max_temp, k = 3, bs = "cr") + dow + month + year

Parametric coefficients:

```
Estimate Std. Error t value Pr(>|t|)
(Intercept) -1.69228 0.06937 -24.394 < 2e-16 ***
dow2
         0.21116 0.06348 3.326 0.000926 ***
dow3
         0.33835 0.06365 5.316 1.43e-07 ***
         0.41368 0.06383 6.481 1.74e-10 ***
dow4
dow5
         0.37877 0.06372 5.944 4.42e-09 ***
dow6
         0.11606 0.06369 1.822 0.068860.
dow7
         0.32919 0.06412 5.134 3.70e-07 ***
month6 0.14727 0.05992 2.458 0.014229 *
month7 0.13571 0.06478 2.095 0.036529 *
month8 -0.07159 0.06009 -1.192 0.233865
month9 -0.12350 0.05835 -2.117 0.034655 *
year2012 0.13208 0.05432 2.432 0.015290 *
year2014 0.10086 0.05544 1.819 0.069328.
year2015 0.51136 0.05341 9.575 < 2e-16 ***
year2016 0.40283 0.05358 7.518 1.74e-13 ***
---
Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1
Approximate significance of smooth terms:
       edf Ref.df F p-value
s(Max_temp) 1.995 2 508.9 <2e-16 ***
Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1
R-sq.(adj) = 0.78 Deviance explained = 78.4%
GCV = 0.18653 Scale est. = 0.19875 n = 704
```

Piedmont Region

Family: Gamma Link function: log Formula: imp_rate ~ s(Max_temp, k = 4, bs = "cr") + dow + month + year

Parametric coefficients:

```
Estimate Std. Error t value Pr(>|t|)
(Intercept) -1.89360 0.06413 -29.529 < 2e-16 ***
dow2
         0.16088 0.06056 2.656 0.008076 **
         0.19780 0.05955 3.321 0.000942 ***
dow3
         0.15663 0.05978 2.620 0.008978 **
dow4
         0.15425 0.05955 2.590 0.009794 **
dow5
         0.07769 0.05960 1.303 0.192864
dow6
         0.37400 0.05962 6.273 6.19e-10 ***
dow7
month6 0.07053 0.05613 1.257 0.209339
month7 0.04138 0.05971 0.693 0.488528
month8 -0.29223 0.05575 -5.241 2.11e-07 ***
month9 -0.31797 0.05315 -5.982 3.51e-09 ***
year2012 0.03454 0.05097 0.678 0.498213
year2014 -0.15769 0.05234 -3.013 0.002684 **
year2015 0.24904 0.05018 4.963 8.72e-07 ***
year2016 0.24925 0.04976 5.009 6.94e-07 ***
---
Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1
Approximate significance of smooth terms:
       edf Ref.df F p-value
s(Max temp) 2.959 2.999 505.5 <2e-16 ***
Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1
R-sq.(adj) = 0.768 Deviance explained = 80.8%
```

Avg. cost = Avg. count * 106.57 (cost value obtained from NC Medicaid)

Coastal cost difference calculation:

GCV = 0.18792 Scale est. = 0.18291 n = 719

=((V2-V1)/|V1|)×100 =((927.15-1239.4)/|1239.40|)×100 =(-312.25/1239.4)×100 =-0.251936×100 =-25.1936%change =25.19% decrease

Piedmont cost difference calculation:

=((V2-V1)/|V1|)×100 =((1099.8-1513.29)/| 1513.29|)×100 =(-413.49/1513.29)×100 =-0.273239×100 =-27.3239%change =27.32% decrease

References

- Alduchov, O.A, R.E Eskridge, and Asheville, NC Department of Commerce. *Improved Magnus* Form Approximation of Saturation Vapor Pressure (1997).
- Atha, W. F. (2013). Heat-Related Illness. *Emergency Medicine Clinics of North America*, 31(4), 1097-1108. doi:10.1016/j.emc.2013.07.012
- Celentano, D. D. (2019). Gordis epidemiology. In M. Szklo (Ed.), *Epidemiology* (Sixth edition. ed.): Philadelphia, PA : Elsevier.

Census, U. B. o. t. (2000). 2010 Census Summary File 1. In.

- Choudhary, E., ; Vaidyanathan, A. (2014). *Heat Stress Illness Hospitalizations Environmental Public Health Tracking Program,* 20 States, 2001–2010. Atlanta, GA: Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/ss6313a1.htm.
- Climate of North Carolina. Asheville, North Carolina Retrieved from https://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/climatenormals/clim60/states/Clim_NC_01.pdf.
- Danzl, D. F. (2018). Heat-Related Illnesses. In J. L. Jameson, A. S. Fauci, D. L. Kasper, S. L. Hauser, D. L. Longo, & J. Loscalzo (Eds.), Harrison's Principles of Internal Medicine, 20e. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill Education.
- David R. Fowler., A. B., Tessie Pollock., Lynne A. Bratka., John Paulson., Anna C. Noller., Robert Mauskapf., Kathryn Oscanyan., Ambarish Vaidyanathan., Amy Wolkin., Ethel V. Taylor., Rachel Radcliffe.,. (2013). *Heat-Related Deaths After an Extreme Heat Event — Four States, 2012, and United States, 1999–2009*. Atlanta, GA: Center for Disease Control and Prevention Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm6222a1.htm.

Emergency Department Case Definitions. (2020). Retrieved from https://ncdetect.org/case-definitions/

- Harduar Morano, Laurel, Watkins, Sharon, & Kintziger, Kristina. (2016). A Comprehensive Evaluation of the Burden of Heat-Related Illness and Death within the Florida Population. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 13(6), 551.
- Harduar Morano, L., & Watkins, S. (2017). Evaluation of Diagnostic Codes in Morbidity and Mortality Data Sources for Heat-Related Illness Surveillance. *Public Health Reports*, *132*(3), 326-335. doi:10.1177/0033354917699826
- Hayashida, K., Kondo, Y., Hifumi, T., Shimazaki, J., Oda, Y., Shiraishi, S., . . . Shimizu, K. (2018). A novel early risk assessment tool for detecting clinical outcomes in patients with heat-related illness (J-ERATO score): Development and validation in independent cohorts in Japan. *PloS one, 13*(5), e0197032-e0197032. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0197032
- James, G., Witten, D., Hastie, T., & Tibshirani, R. (2013). An introduction to statistical learning (Vol. 112): Springer.
- Knowlton, K., Rotkin-Ellman, M., King, G., Margolis, H. G., Smith, D., Solomon, G., . . . English, P. (2009). The 2006 California Heat Wave: Impacts on Hospitalizations and Emergency Department Visits. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *117*(1), 61-67. doi:10.1289/ehp.11594
- Kovach, M. M., Konrad, C. E., & Fuhrmann, C. M. (2015). Area-level risk factors for heat-related illness in rural and urban locations across North Carolina, USA. *Applied Geography*, *60*, 175-183. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog.2015.03.012
- Levy, B., & Patz, J. (2015). Climate change and public health: Oxford University Press.
- Lim, Youn-Hee, Colleen Reid, E. Mann, Jennifer Jerrett, and K. Kim. "Diurnal Temperature Range and Short-term Mortality in Large US Communities." *International Journal of Biometeorology* 59.9 (2015): 1311-319.
- Lindsey, R., & Dahlman, L. (2020). Climate Change: Global Temperature. Retrieved from https://www.climate.gov/news-features/understanding-climate/climate-change-global-temperature
- LoVecchio, F. (2016). Heat Emergencies. In J. E. Tintinalli, J. S. Stapczynski, O. J. Ma, D. M. Yealy, G. D. Meckler, & D. M. Cline (Eds.), *Tintinalli's Emergency Medicine: A Comprehensive Study Guide, 8e*. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill Education.
- Mazdiyasni, O., & AghaKouchak, A. (2015). Substantial increase in concurrent droughts and heatwaves in the United States. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 112*(37), 11484-11489. doi:10.1073/pnas.1422945112
- McMichael, A. J., Wilkinson, P., Kovats, R. S., Pattenden, S., Hajat, S., Armstrong, B., . . . Nikiforov, B. (2008). International study of temperature, heat and urban mortality: the 'ISOTHURM' project. *International Journal of Epidemiology, 37*(5), 1121-1131. doi:10.1093/ije/dyn086
- Mitchell, Daniel, Clare Heaviside, Sotiris Vardoulakis, Chris Huntingford, Giacomo Masato, Benoit P Guillod, Peter Frumhoff, Andy Bowery, David Wallom, and Myles Allen. Attributing Human Mortality during Extreme Heat Waves to Anthropogenic Climate Change. *Environmental Research Letters* 11.7 (2016): 8.

- Mora, C., Dousset, B., Caldwell, I. R., Powell, F. E., Geronimo, R. C., Bielecki, C. R., . . . Trauernicht, C. (2017). Global risk of deadly heat. *Nature Climate Change*, 7(7), 501-+. doi:10.1038/nclimate3322
- National Academy of Sciences, (2016). Attribution of Extreme Weather Events in the Context of Climate Change: National Academies Press
- Nemer, J. A., & Juarez, M. A. (2019). Disorders Related to Environmental Emergencies. In M. A. Papadakis, S. J. McPhee, & M. W. Rabow (Eds.), *Current Medical Diagnosis & amp; Treatment 2019*. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill Education.
- NOAA. (2019). Weather related fatalities. Retrieved from https://www.weather.gov/media/hazstat/80years.pdf
- NOAA. (2020). Trends in Atmospheric Carbon Dioxide. Retrieved from https://www.esrl.noaa.gov/gmd/ccgg/trends/
- Nolte, C. G., P.D. Dolwick, N. Fann, L.W. Horowitz, V. Naik, R.W. Pinder, T.L. Spero, D.A. Winner, and L.H. Ziska. (2018). *Air Quality*. Washington, DC: Global Change Research Program Retrieved from <u>https://nca2018.globalchange.gov/chapter/13/</u>.
- Oudin Åström, Daniel, Forsberg, Bertil, Ebi, Kristie L, & Rocklöv, Joacim. (2013). Attributing mortality from extreme temperatures to climate change in Stockholm, Sweden. Nature Climate Change, 3(12), 1050-1054.
- Participating Hospitals. (2020). Retrieved from <u>https://ncdetect.org/participating-hospitals/</u>
- Schmeltz, M. T., Marcotullio, P. J., Himmelstein, D. U., Woolhandler, S., & Sembajwe, G. (2016). Outcomes of hospitalizations for common illnesses associated with a comorbid heat-related illness in the United States, 2001–2010. *Climatic Change*, 138(3), 567-584. doi:10.1007/s10584-016-1747-5
- Schmeltz, Michael T, Elisaveta P Petkova, and Janet L Gamble. Economic Burden of Hospitalizations for Heat-Related Illnesses in the United States, 2001-2010. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 13.9 (2016): International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, Sep 08 2016, Vol.13(9).
- Sakamoto, Y., Ishiguro, M., and Kitagawa G. (1986). Akaike Information Criterion Statistics. D. Reidel Publishing Company.
- Smith, T. T., Zaitchik, B. F., & Gohlke, J. M. (2013). Heat waves in the United States: definitions, patterns and trends. *Climatic Change*, 118(3), 811-825. doi:10.1007/s10584-012-0659-2
- Stone, Dáithí A, Christidis, Nikolaos, Folland, Chris, Perkins-Kirkpatrick, Sarah, Perlwitz, Judith, Shiogama, Hideo, Wehner, Michael F, Wolski, Piotr, Cholia, Shreyas, Krishnan, Harinarayan, Murray, Donald, Angélil, Oliver, Beyerle, Urs, Ciavarella, Andrew, Dittus, Andrea, Quan, Xiao-Wei, and Tadross, Mark. "Experiment Design of the International CLIVAR C20C Detection and Attribution Project." Weather and Climate Extremes 24.C (2019): 100206. Web.
- Sugg, M. M., Konrad, C. E., & Fuhrmann, C. M. (2016). Relationships between maximum temperature and heat-related illness across North Carolina, USA. International Journal of Biometeorology, 60(5), 663-675. doi:10.1007/s00484-015-1060-4
- USGCRP. (2020). Heat Waves. Retrieved from https://www.globalchange.gov/browse/indicator-details/3983
- Vuuren, Detlef, P. Edmonds, Jae Kainuma, Mikiko Riahi, Keywan Thomson, Allison Hibbard, Kathy Hurtt, George Kram, C. Krey, Tom Lamarque, Volker Masui, Jean-Francois Meinshausen, Toshihiko Nakicenovic, Malte Smith, and Nebojsa Rose. The Representative Concentration Pathways: An Overview. *Climatic Change* 109.1-2 (2011): 5-31.
- Wood, S. (2019). Package 'mgcv'. R package version 1.8-31, 1, 309.
- Wood, S. N. (2017). Generalized additive models: an introduction with R: Chapman and Hall/CRC.
- Zhao, L., Lee, X., Smith, R. B., & Oleson, K. (2014). Strong contributions of local background climate to urban heat islands. *Nature*, 511, 216. doi:10.1038/nature13462

Feedback



About The Society of Actuaries

With roots dating back to 1889, the <u>Society of Actuaries</u> (SOA) is the world's largest actuarial professional organization with more than 31,000 members. Through research and education, the SOA's mission is to advance actuarial knowledge and to enhance the ability of actuaries to provide expert advice and relevant solutions for financial, business and societal challenges. The SOA's vision is for actuaries to be the leading professionals in the measurement and management of risk.

The SOA supports actuaries and advances knowledge through research and education. As part of its work, the SOA seeks to inform public policy development and public understanding through research. The SOA aspires to be a trusted source of objective, data-driven research and analysis with an actuarial perspective for its members, industry, policymakers and the public. This distinct perspective comes from the SOA as an association of actuaries, who have a rigorous formal education and direct experience as practitioners as they perform applied research. The SOA also welcomes the opportunity to partner with other organizations in our work where appropriate.

The SOA has a history of working with public policymakers and regulators in developing historical experience studies and projection techniques as well as individual reports on health care, retirement and other topics. The SOA's research is intended to aid the work of policymakers and regulators and follow certain core principles:

Objectivity: The SOA's research informs and provides analysis that can be relied upon by other individuals or organizations involved in public policy discussions. The SOA does not take advocacy positions or lobby specific policy proposals.

Quality: The SOA aspires to the highest ethical and quality standards in all of its research and analysis. Our research process is overseen by experienced actuaries and nonactuaries from a range of industry sectors and organizations. A rigorous peer-review process ensures the quality and integrity of our work.

Relevance: The SOA provides timely research on public policy issues. Our research advances actuarial knowledge while providing critical insights on key policy issues, and thereby provides value to stakeholders and decision makers.

Quantification: The SOA leverages the diverse skill sets of actuaries to provide research and findings that are driven by the best available data and methods. Actuaries use detailed modeling to analyze financial risk and provide distinct insight and quantification. Further, actuarial standards require transparency and the disclosure of the assumptions and analytic approach underlying the work.

Society of Actuaries 475 N. Martingale Road, Suite 600 Schaumburg, Illinois 60173 www.SOA.org